
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 6TH DECEMBER, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual 
Report 
To consider the attached report 1 - 34

4. Annual Report on Adult Safeguarding Processes 
To consider the attached report 35 - 38

5. Children Looked After Prevention Strategy 
To consider the attached report 39 - 44

6. Case loads - Children's Services 
To consider the attached report 45 - 50

7. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 
To receive an update from the Chair

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

10. Scrutiny Work Programme 2016-17 
To consider the attached report 51 - 64

11. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor:  W R Smith (Chair)

Councillors: D Davies, R Braithwaite, A Jones, T Lewis, 
B E Mansbridge and J McCarthy

Co-optees: B Lewis

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual 
Report

1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT
1.1 To provide information for the Scrutiny Committee on a work programme item.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out in the 

attached report, and identifies any further information it would like to receive. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 This item is on this scrutiny committees work programme:-
Monitoring & Scrutiny: The Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC) 
brings together the adoption services of the Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC, Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC.  The Annual Report will 
provide an analysis of the activity of Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative.

3.2 Annabel Lloyd of this Authority and Angela Harris (Vale of Glamorgan) will be in 
attendance to address the committee on this item.

SCRUTINY SECTION

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Date Written 22nd November 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Scrutiny
Committee Date 6th December 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

1

VALE, VALLEYS & CARDIFF ADOPTION SERVICE

ANNUAL REPORT  

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative

For Period 1 April 2015-31 March 2016

Page 3



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

2

Index

Subjects

1.   Introduction...........................................................................................................3

2.   Background.............................................................................................................3

3.   Current Position .....................................................................................................4

4.   Staffing ...................................................................................................................4

5.   Adoption Panel, Membership and Training............................................................6

6.   Panel Activity and Workload ..................................................................................6

7.   Advertising and Marketing .....................................................................................7

8.   Children ..................................................................................................................8

9.   Matches................................................................................................................15

10. Disruptions ...........................................................................................................16

11. Adopters ...............................................................................................................16

12. Adoption Support .................................................................................................19

13. Policies and Procedures........................................................................................26

14. CSSIW ...................................................................................................................26

15. Local Governance and Monitoring Arrangement.................................................27

16. Consultation .........................................................................................................27

17. Complaints, Comments and Compliments ...........................................................28

18. Future Priorities....................................................................................................28

19. Conclusion ............................................................................................................29

Appended

Joint Adoption Panel Membership .................................................................................31

Page 4



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

3

Adoption Agency Annual Report
2015/16

1. Introduction

The requirement to provide an annual review of the Adoption Service is set out in 
Regulation 22 of the Local Authority Adoption Service (Wales) Regulations 2007 and 
Section 15 (c) of The Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements) 
(Wales) Directions 2015.  The aim of this report is to bring into one document a 
presentation and analysis of the activity of Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption 
Collaborative which can be used for  the following purposes – 

 The Review of Service ( Regulation  22 report)
 The Annual Report to the Director of Operations for the National Adoption 

Service.
 The Review of the Collaborative for presentation to the Management Board 

and Joint Committee.
 Local authority reporting mechanisms to Corporate Parenting Boards and 

Scrutiny Committees. 

This report is in respect of the period 1 April 2015- 31 March 2016. The narrative 
however applies to the period from the formation of the Collaborative on 1 June 2015 
to the 31 March 2016. Some of the data is also only available for this period. 

2. Background

Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative (VVC)  brings together the adoption 
services of the Vale of Glamorgan Council,  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council , 
Cardiff Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council . It is one of the 
five regional Collaboratives which form part of the National Adoption Service in 
Wales (NAS) .The Vale of Glamorgan Council host the Collaborative.

In March 2015 Welsh Government published the (Joint Adoption Arrangements) 
(Wales) Directions 2015, known as “ The Directions Powers “, which prescribe the 
regional areas and the governance structure for the service at a national and 
regional level.

The merger of the adoption services within the region in June 2015 was the 
culmination of much co-ordinated effort and joint working on the part of all partners in 
progressing the plan to implement the service

Page 5



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

4

3. Current Position

VVC became operational on the 1 June 2015 when adoption staff transferred to the 
employment of the Vale of Glamorgan Council under TUPE transfer arrangements. 
The team is based in an open plan office on floor 7 , Ty Pennant in Pontypridd. The 
accommodation is leased from RCT under a formal licence agreement. 

A regional workplan to cover the work of Collaborative for the first ten months of 
operation was put in place in September 2015 and approved by the Joint Committee 
in December 2015.The plan was set against local and national priorities developed 
by NAS:

 ● recruiting more adopters for siblings and older children
 ● placing children more quickly
 ● providing better adoption support
 ● engaging with service users and improving performance.

This plan has been used as a baseline in order to measure progress in meeting 
objectives and achievements to date.

4. Staffing

The service is managed by a Regional Adoption Manager (RAM) who has overall 
responsibility for the day to day running of the service. The Regional Manager is an 
experienced manager who is suitably qualified to meet the requirements of the 
Regulations.

There are 2.5 Managers who manage the specific service functions of Recruitment & 
Assessment of Adopters, Family Finding and Adoption Support and the individual 
staff teams. There is a Business Support Manager and 4 full time equivalent 
Business Support staff.

The service has a staff establishment of 16 full time equivalent Social Workers. Due 
however, to a number of vacancies created by the merger and maternity leave, a full 
staffing position has not yet been achieved. Prior to and following implementation, 
VVC has been actively involved in recruiting to these posts to ensure vacancies are 
filled and has been successful in recruiting a number of new staff Collaborative with 
a range of skills.

At the end of March 2016 there was one part time permanent Social Work vacancy 
which was in the process of being filled and 1.5 temporary maternity cover 
vacancies, although the full time member of staff on maternity leave was due to 
return to employment in May 2016.

Page 6



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

5

Team & service development

The establishment of the Collaborative represented a significant organisational 
change both for staff and for the way adoption services were formerly delivered. The 
creation of the joint service has posed a number of challenges but considerable 
commitment has been demonstrated by all staff throughout the period of change to 
maintain service delivery and in minimise the level of disruption for service users. 

Prior to the implementation of the Collaborative staff were involved in an extensive 
period of consultation and were involved in a staff workshop to assist in the 
development of the agreed service delivery structure. As part of the implementation 
process staff were asked to express a preference to work in a particular service 
function and allocated to functions accordingly.  

The staffing position however has meant that the full implementation of the agreed 
service model according to specialist functional teams of Family Finding, 
Recruitment and Assessment and Adoption Support has been delayed .Managers  
however take lead responsibility for the particular functions but they also share a 
range of tasks, such as chairing matching and placement meetings for children and  
providing agency advice to the local authority Agency Decision Maker and the 
Adoption Panel.
 
Social Workers who transferred into VVC retained their existing caseloads and new 
work has been allocated across the whole staff team  so that staff currently major in 
their particular area of preference whilst taking on cases from otherspecialisms. 
Newly recruited staff to the service have built up experience in all aspects of 
adoption via a generic workload. Business Support roles have been assigned to 
specialist tasks to provide consistency and economies of scale.

The management team within VVC has focused attention upon developing support 
structures for staff. Supervision is provided on a monthly basis for all Social Workers 
and annual appraisals were conducted for all staff in January 2016. Probationary 
reports have been completed for all new staff according the Vale of Glamorgan’s 
requirements.

A regular schedule of monthly Team Meetings is in place for Social Work staff and a 
Team Development day was held in February 2016 for the whole regional team. 
Since then individual functional meetings have been put in place for staff involved in 
Family Finding & Recruitment & Assessment. Going forward the service will review 
the feasibility of implementing fully the functional model of service delivery.

Meetings have been held with Business Support staff to discuss specific issues and 
roles and responsibilities. The Business Support Manager attends all regional Team 
Meetings. Managers within the Collaborative meet on a monthly basis.

As part of the implementation of the service, workshops were held with Childcare 
Teams across the region to explain remit of VVC and the role and responsibilities of 
local authority partners. Interface meetings have now been set up with relevant 

Page 7



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

6

Managers in Merthyr, RCT and Cardiff to deal with performance and specific issues. 
Managers within VVC are part of the Children’s Services Divisional Management 
Team within the Vale of Glamorgan where similar issues can be raised.

The RAM and all the Managers within VVC are members of the respective national 
subgroups set up by NAS to develop the service.

5. Adoption Panel Membership / Advisers and Training
 
VVC managed four separate Adoption Panels until October 2015 when a Joint 
Regional Panel covering the four partner authorities was established. A central list of 
Panel members was drawn from the existing Panel membership including Panel 
Chairs & Vice-Chairs.

The Panel operates from two sittings, a south sitting covering RCT and Merthyr and 
north sitting covering Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.

Panel training has not been held since the Joint Panel was set up but this will be 
planned for the forthcoming year. A consultation  meeting was held in January 2016 
with Panel Chairs, Vice Chairs and Panel Advisers to look at the draft  best practice 
guide developed by the Family Finding Manager to improve consistency of Panel 
functioning and decision making. 

In January 2016, a Project Group was established with colleagues within the Vale of 
Glamorgan IT Department to look at the development of a digital, paperless Adoption 
Panel system. This group has met on a regular basis and consulted with Panel 
members. Tablet computers have now been purchased for Panel members and a 
licence with Egress has been set up to enable secure transfer of Panel information.

Training is planned for Panel members on the new system within the first quarter of 
next financial year with a view to full implementation during the summer.

Appraisals of existing Panel members will be scheduled for  autumn 2016.

All Managers within the Collaborative act as Panel Advisers. The main responsibility 
for this role however rests with the Family Finding Manager who advises the south 
sitting and the Recruitment and Assessment Manager who advises the north sitting 
of the Panel.The RAM and Adoption Support Manager act as Panel Advisers 
covering leave periods  and  general absence.

6. Adoption Panel Activity/Workload Management

The south sitting of the Panel meets on a fortnightly basis and the north monthly, 
although north sittings increased in November 2015 and February 2016 to meet 

Page 8



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

7

workload demand. The south sitting meets at the Civic Offices, Barry and the north 
sitting in the Ty Pennant office, Pontypridd.

Panel meetings are co-ordinated by the Panel Co-Ordinators and cases scheduled in 
conjunction with Managers and Social Workers.

The table below shows the number of individual and Joint Panels held during the 
year. One Cardiff Panel was cancelled for lack of quoracy, one scheduled during the 
week of the merger could not go ahead and one was cancelled because there was 
only one case to consider. Two Merthyr Panels were cancelled due to cases being 
cancelled.

No Joint Panels have been cancelled.

Period 15-16

Number of Panels  held Cardiff   10
RCT       7
Merthyr  4
VOG      5
VVC      19
TOTAL   45

Number of Panels cancelled due to lack of 
quoracy Cardiff    1

Number of Panels cancelled for other 
reasons Cardiff    2

Merthyr  2

The current central list provides a solid pool of experienced Panel members. More 
independent members are however needed to represent all aspects of the adoption 
experience. A tendering exercise to recruit new Panel members will be considered in 
the coming year. The current membership list is appended to the report.

A questionnaire for Panel attendees was devised by the Policy and Quality 
Assurance  Officer in conjunction with the Family Finding Manager. The findings of 
this survey was used to inform and develop the best practice guide for the Panel. 
This guide is in the process of being finalised and will be rolled out to the wider Panel 
membership and attendees.  A  QA checklist forms part of this guide which will be 
used by Managers in approving reports being presented to Panel. 

7. Advertising and Marketing

For the year 2015-16 there has been no sole VVC advertising or marketing activity. 
Since the first day of the Collaborative coming together a high volume of adoption 
enquiries has been received and these are analysed in section 9. 

Page 9



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

8

The Recruitment and Assessment Team Manager has taken an active and vocal role 
on the NAS Marketing and Media subgroup and VVC have identified and put forward 
adopters who are willing to share their stories with the media for campaigns run by 
NAS.

VVC have developed their own website address, which is independent from any 
local authority within the Collaborative but this has remained as a landing page 
providing basic information on VVC. Work was undertaken prior to the merger, which 
considered the content and information contained on the four local authorities 
adoption webpages and researching the adoption pages of other agencies and local 
authorities but time constraints and competing demands has meant that this work 
has not been progressed. VVC recognise the need to develop the website, not solely 
for the purposes of marketing but also as a means of providing  up to date family 
finding information to inform recruitment and  Adoption Support information. It is also 
planned to use the website to share adopters’ stories, review adoption literature and 
celebrate our work.

For the coming year VVC has secured some additional capacity in the form of an 
experienced Marketing Officer  employed on a temporary basis by NAS to support 
the development of the website, provide information and advice around social media 
and look at branded literature. 

8. Children

As part of the range of functions delegated to the Collaborative, it was agreed that 
the Collaborative would receive adoption referrals on children from early on in the 
process and that VVC would co-ordinate the  should be placed for adoption decision 
(SBPA ) process on behalf of the four partner authorities. This has resulted in this 
being a key area of activity for the service and overall performance in relation to the 
placement of children for adoption is a key priority for the region.

A revised SBPA process was agreed in consultation with the Medical Advisers 
following the implementation of the Collaborative and cascaded to relevant staff 
within the region. This process incorporateS a more pro-active approach to the 
provision of birth parent counselling and frontloading of information to ensure that 
adoption medicals can be undertaken and the twin tracking timetable could be met. 
Processes have been put in place to track referrals and a monthly Placement 
Meetings have been set up with the Family Finding & Recruitment  Teams to review 
all children on Placement Order and adopters waiting.

From April 2014, performance within the Collaborative has been reported on an 
individual local authority basis against the Performance Management Framework 
developed by Welsh Government. This practice of reporting continued until the 
implementation of the Collaborative in June 2015 when the responsibility for 
quarterly reporting transferred to VVC.

Page 10



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

9

There are a number of performance measures which monitor performance in relation 
to the key stages in the adoption process for children with particular emphasis upon 
the overall timeliness of the process. Some of these measures relate directly to local 
authority performance and some are shared jointly between the local authority and 
the Collaborative.

The region placed 70 children for adoption during 15-16. This return represents a   
decrease from the previous year where the regional total at year end was 112 but 
reflects the national downturn in the numbers of children being brought forward for 
adoption. VVC however recorded a total of 67 Placement Orders for the year. The 
overall number of Placement Orders made in Wales fell by 20% in 2014-15 and NAS 
data suggests a further decrease during 2015-16.

At the end of the reporting  period 71 children had a ‘should be placed’ for adoption 
decision (SBPA)  but had not been placed for adoption , 9 of these children had a 
SBPA decision alone, 2 had been matched and not placed and 62 children remained 
with a SBPA decision and Placement Order.

The average time taken from the last LAC episode to placement for adoption is 15 
months and the  annual average for VVC is 451 days (national target 395 days). 
VVCs performance in relation to this indicator is comparable to other similar regions.  

The average length of time for children to progress from adoption decision to 
placement is 10 months and our annual average is 288 days. The average length of 
time from Placement Order to placement for adoption is 9 months.

There were 7 children who had been waiting longer than six months for a match at 
the end of the reporting period .The reasons for the delays are reported to NAS. 

Other measures which relate directly to the service for children concern the provision 
of birth parent counselling and the provision of Life Journey Material for children 
placed for adoption by the time of their second adoption review.

Birth parent counselling now forms part of the child referral process and is offered on 
two occasions following referral. During the year 234 parents were referred for birth 
parent counselling and this was taken up by 94 which equates to 40%. This  is short 
of the national target set by NAS which is 50% although overall regional performance 
has improved.

Performance in relation to the provision of Life Journey material, which is the 
responsibility of the local authority  holding case responsibility for the child  has been 
closely monitored within the region  but overall performance remains poor with this 
being in place in only 30% of placements. This issue has been raised at the 
Management Board ( MB) and agreed as an improvement action for all Heads of 
Service to take back into their respective authorities. Regional training on life story 
work has been proposed for Childcare staff within the  Collaborative which will be 
taken forward during the next year.

The following graphs present some additional information which has been collated 
by VVC.

Page 11



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

10

The number of referrals for adoption is not currently collated by NAS but has been 
recorded by VVC since June 2015. The total number of referrals received is 150.

Of these numbers, 33 have had their plan changed from twin tracking for adoption 
which represents 22%.

This number is further broken down by authority. The highest number of referrals has 
been received from Cardiff, followed closely by RCT, the Vale of Glamorgan & 
Merthyr.

Page 12



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

11

The figures below indicate the high  level of work undertaken  by the Collaborative 
and cases held during this period :

These figures can be broken down further into the following categories:

93

15

60
56

43

82

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Referred SBA PO Placed Off referral Adoption
Order

The 349 can be broken down into 

The children who have had their Adoption Order’s granted have been active cases in 
VVC between June 2015 – March 2016. 

Page 13



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

12

27

9

33

13

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Cardiff VOG RCT Merthyr

The children with Adoption Orders granted 
between April 2015 and March 2016 is 82. 

This can be broken down into LA: 

At year end there are 60 children with Placement Orders. The following tables 
provide additional information in relation to the children on Placement Orders. 

33

14

7 6

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Likely to place with VVC
adopters.

Likely to require a
placement outside

VVC.

Foster carer
assessment.

Plan uncertain

There are currently 60 Children with a 
Placement Order. These can be broken down 

into:

Page 14



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

13

Page 15



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

14

Page 16



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

15

The above graph details the number of children placed in external placements during 
the year which totals 37. The Collaborative has advertised externally for a small 
number of children, has utilised the service of Adoption Link, a national family finding 
service and refers and registers all children with the Wales Adoption Register 
(WAR). The region has also participated in a national Exchange Day last autumn 
facilitated by WAR. 

The number of children placed externally reflects the range of needs which cannot 
be met in-house. This information is now being collated and will be used to inform 
recruitment practice in the coming year with the aim of trying to reverse this trend 
and place more children within regional resources.

9. Matches
The table below highlights a small number of children who had been matched at 
Adoption Panel but not yet placed at the end of the year. The other part of the table 
highlights those placed but not yet adopted.

Cardiff RCT Merthyr VOG Regional 
Total

Number of children matched but not 
placed at end of reporting period. 

0 0 2 0 2

Number of children placed but where 
adoption order has not yet been 
granted.

19 19 4 8 50

Page 17



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

16

10. Disruptions

During the period there were two children where the proposed match broke down 
during introductions. The reasons for the breakdowns are different. In one case, a 
little girl aged 4, the prospective adopter decided that the child was not the right 
match for her and has subsequently decided not to continue as a prospective 
adopter. The other case involved a young girl under one where during the 
introductions it emerged that the adoptive couple had marital difficulties. 

There have been four placement breakdowns following placement. One breakdown 
involved a one year old little boy where the adoptive parents felt it was the wrong 
match and the female adopter felt unable to attach to the child. A sibling group of two 
older female children broke down when the adopters felt unable to cope with their 
behaviour and there was a breakdown of an 11 month old girl where the adopters 
decided that they no longer wished to adopt.

All the placement disruptions have been the subject of Disruption meetings chaired 
independently of the service. Findings of the meetings have been considered on a 
case by case basis.  Due to the range of circumstances described, it is difficult to 
assess the wider implications for practice. The local Family Finding process which is 
being developed  puts in place a range of actions on the part of the Family Finder to 
minimise the risk of breakdown by ensuring that the needs of the child are fully 
explained. There are obvious lessens for recruiting and assessing Social Workers in 
terms of ensuring assessments are robust but there are always circumstances which 
can develop which cannot be foreseen. Finally the outcome of breakdowns need to 
be routinely reported to the Adoption Panel to ensure that their role remains robust 
un terms of considering potential matches.

Cardiff RCT Merthyr VOG Regional 
Total

Number of children matched but 
where, following Panel and prior to 
placement the match does not 
proceed. 

0 2 0 0 2

Number of children placed or 
adopted but where the placement 
disrupts.

3 1 0 0 4

11. Adopters

As noted in section 7, there has been no active recruitment activity by VVC since its 
inception in June 2015. Since June 2015 we have received in excess of 200 

Page 18



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

17

enquiries from potential adopters. It is clear from the breakdown of those enquiries 
that almost half of them come from people living within the Cardiff area, with RCT 
recording the next highest amount, followed by the Vale of Glamorgan and Merthyr 
Tydfil.

As per the Performance Management Framework 99% of these enquiries were 
responded to in 5 working days. Improvements have been noted in our response 
time due to improvements made to the logging and recording of enquiries and 
prioritising this task as part of the daily duty system. 

Local Authority Numbers of Enquiries
Cardiff 85
RCT 50
Vale of Glamorgan 32
Merthyr Tydfil 11
Unknown 
(email address)

32

Non VVC -  LA 4
TOTAL 214

In the year 2015/16 there were 55 adopters (households) approved. This equates 
per head to 109 adopters.

Of these 55 adoptive households we have had 39 matches/placements generated 
(16 placements in 2015/16 and 23 placements/booked matches in 2016/17). We 
have had one approved adopter who has since advised that she no longer wishes to 
pursue adoption due to changes in her personal life.

Of these 55 adoptive households they were recommended for the following:
 
Up to 3 children 2
Up to 2 children 12
1 child 35
Specific approval 6

Up to 3 years 26
Up to 6 years 20
Over 6 years 3
Specific 6

This table indicates that that over half of the approvals were for 1 child and that just 
over half were approved for children under 3 years of age.

Page 19



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

18

In addition to those adopters approved during the year the region also inherited a 
significant number of approved adopters who were awaiting placements. A meeting 
was held in January 2016 with all adopters in the region to explain the current 
situation in relation to children waiting and the matching process. The meeting was 
also used to profile some harder to place children.

There have been three occasions in the year 2015-16 where adopters have 
voluntarily withdrawn from the assessment process. The reasons were due to 
pregnancy in one case, marital difficulties in another situation and concerns raised 
during the assessment which related to a history of domestic abuse in relation to one 
partner.

The number of adopters who do not proceed from initial visit to application to adopt 
is one of the performance measures collated under the Performance Management 
Framework. During the past year this has been recorded as 10. Since the merger the 
service has begun to collate wherever possible the reasons for potential applicants 
not proceeding. There are a various range of reasons recorded.

There were two initial visits undertaken where one of the prospective applicants had 
a significant medical condition that warranted an early medical and the Medical 
Adviser then stated that they could not recommend the applicant. 

Other reasons ranged from a very new relationship in one case, lack of a support 
structure in two instances, limited childcare experience and unrealistic expectations 
in another situation. 

VVC has seen a decrease in the numbers of children being placed for adoption on 
the previous year but continues to receive a significant number of enquiries from 
prospective adopters. Referral trends also demonstrate that more children with 
additional needs and sibling groups require placements. In order therefore, to better 
meet the needs of the children currently requiring placement within the region the 
Management Board has agreed a more targeted approach to the recruitment of 
adopters.

This approach involves providing more information around the needs of looked after 
children much earlier in the process. The format of Information Evenings for 
prospective adopters has been amended to include a fuller presentation on the 
range of needs and those currently waiting .The team has also put together an 
information pack which includes information around neglect, drug & alcohol misuse 
etc for prospective applicants to consider before progressing to a home visit. 
Applicants who can consider a wide age range and range of needs will then be 
prioritised for assessment.

VVC is currently undertaking 39 assessments at the end of the reporting period with 
a further 6 to be allocated following the next training. In addition 5 requests for 
second time adopter assessments have been received.

Page 20



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

19

The Performance Framework also measures the length of time taken for adopter 
approvals from initial enquiry to decision. In the last year that the average time taken 
was 181 days which is less than the national target of 8 months (243 days). In order 
to keep assessments on track all Social Workers are expected to use assessment 
plans and mid-point reviews are now increasingly being used to measure progress in 
assessments. The Recruitment and Assessment team are keen to develop and 
share assessment tools in order to ensure that processes are robust. 

VVC also undertakes a significant number of non-agency adoptions, with the 
majority being step adoption applications. There have been 39 enquiries from 1st 
June 2015 to 31st March 2016 in respect of non-agency applications.  The 
geographical breakdown is shown in the table below.

Local Authority Number of Enquiries
Cardiff 13
RCT 19
Merthyr 2
Vale 4
Unknown (email) 1

The overall picture in relation to adopter activity during the past year is summarised 
in the table below:

Number of adopter enquiries 214

Number of adopter approvals 55 
households

(109 
individuals)

Number withdrawing during 
assessment 

3

Number of unsuccessful applications 0

12. Adoption Support

The Collaborative has a small Adoption Support Team comprising of a part time 
Manager and 3 full time equivalent Social Workers. This section provides a summary 
of the workload of the service.

Page 21



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

20

Adoption Support Referrals (one off service / advice as well as on-going work)

Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Regional 
Total

Referrals since 01.06.2015 25 3 17 11 56

The figures above refer to referrals from 1st June 2015. Unfortunately there was no 
clear data for referrals received in April 2015 or May 2015. Below however are 
details of the open cases to the 4 local authorities as at 31st May 2015 which 
transferred into the Collaborative:

Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Regional 
Total

Open cases as at 31.05.2015 
(Referral date not recorded)

12 0 21 9 42

Adoption support referrals can be made directly from adoptive families or from local 
agencies and teams. As part of the functions delegated to the Collaborative it was 
agreed that where required VVC would undertake the assessment of support needs 
for adopted children and the vast majority of current referrals have been direct 
requests for support from families themselves. This model was agreed as the 
preferred option in order to provide assessments of need from a specialist adoption 
perspective and for the families we would consider that this model has worked well. 
On occasion VVC has had to make a referral into the local authority Children’s 
Services Team where it has been considered that the presenting needs or risks are 
beyond solely adoption support and where there are safeguarding or other child in 
need factors to be assessed. The region has continued to receive a high number of 
referrals for adoption support services and challenge of this model is being able to 
respond to the demand for assessments in a timely manner. 

The budget for the Collaborative does not contain an element for funding adoption 
support packages and so where the outcome of the assessment recommends 
funding a therapeutic support package or other financial support these assessments 
are referred to the relevant decision maker in the local authority responsible for the 
child. 

There are currently no service level agreements between the Collaborative and other 
providers and agencies of support services, although individual arrangements have 
previously been in existence within some of the local authorities in the past. VVC has 
sought to establish a list of potential providers of services which can be drawn upon 

Page 22



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

21

to provide support services to families. Developing a service level agreement may be 
considered in the future in consultation with our local authority partners.

Two reviews of the service have been undertaken by the Adoption Support Manager 
since the Collaborative was established. The purpose of this has been to consider 
the level of demand for services and how this is currently being managed within 
available resources as well as capturing a clearer picture of a service area which has 
historically not gathered as much consistent data as other service areas. It has 
provided us with some overview of the recurring presenting difficulties as well as the 
range of support services that have been put in place. This information was 
presented to Management Board in March 2015 and has enabled the service to 
propose some additional short term measures to support the service over the coming 
year. This pilot was agreed as part of proposals to utilise an underspend in budget 
by the Management Board and Joint Committee.

As may well be expected, the most commonly recurring presenting needs within 
referrals received by the Collaborative have been:

- Attachment difficulties
- Behavioural difficulties
- Identity and emotional difficulties
- Violence/physical aggression from the child
- Additional complex needs such as learning disability, ADHD, Autistic 

Spectrum Disorder.

The table below highlights the type of service being received during the past year:

 

Page 23



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

22

Practical/Financial does not include Adoption allowance requests which are 
managed separately. Practical support includes the facilitation of direct contact 
arrangements

Of the 28 cases receiving therapeutic support (either solely or alongside Social Work 
support)  20 different providers have been commissioned  and as outlined previously  
the service is now beginning to identify a range of providers of therapeutic and other 
relevant services particularly given reliance on specific providers within different local 
authorities. 

Within adoption support assessments and referrals mainstream and universal 
services are considered and VVC has established links with Health and Education 
departments to ensure that children are accessing the services that should be 
available to them. In some instances families have been supported to access 
CAMHS or liaison has taken place with the LEA regarding Pupil Deprivation Grant 
funding. 

Training has been identified as a priority for the service particularly in the area of 
adoption support. Agreement has been given in the coming year to fund some 
places for staff on TheraPlay, Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy (DDP), 
Parenting with PACE, Life Story Work and Non-Violent Resistance training. The 
intention of specialist training is both to equip practitioners with the skills to provide 
some of the direct work and interventions currently being commissioned externally 
for families and also to increase the range of training and workshops that the service 
can offer as preventative or early intervention. 

Access to Birth Records/Intermediary Services

The service also provides a service for persons wishing to access their birth records 
and an intermediary service.

Number of Referrals for Birth Records Counselling /Intermediary Services

Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Regional 
Total

Number of Referrals since 
01.06.2015 for Birth Records 
Counselling

28 6 24 12 70

Number of Referrals since 
01.06.2015 for Intermediary Services

8 0 9 2 19

Page 24



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

23

As with adoption support referrals, there were also cases open to the four local 
authorities prior to the 1st June 2015. The majority of these birth records counselling 
or intermediary service requests were not yet allocated. 

Below are the figures for open cases:

Cardiff Merthyr RCT VOG Regional 
Total

Number of Open cases as at 
31.05.2015 for Intermediary 
Services

0 0 10 8 18

Number of open cases as at 
31.05.2015 for Access to Birth 
Records Counselling

10 0 6 16 32

Unfortunately due to the high volume of adoption support referrals for children and 
families received a number of these cases have remained unallocated although 
priority has been given to those waiting the longest.
 
There are no service level commissioning arrangements in place in relation to 
access to birth records or intermediary services and no external providers have been 
commissioned on an individual basis. As part of the pilot to enhance adoption 
support within the region there are plans in place to appoint a temporary part-time 
Social Worker to assist with the significant backlog of this work and reduce the 
waiting list. 

In order to assist with intermediary searches we have a TraceIQ account for which 
we purchase credits to use for searching. 

Letterbox Contact
The Collaborative manages a high volume of letterbox contact arrangements which 
is currently managed by the whole staff team via a specific allocation of cases. A 
review of the service is underway and due for completion in April 2016. It is 
acknowledged that this area poses significant challenges for the regional service in 
managing such a complex set of sensitive information and the sheer volume of 
cases. As part of the evaluation of the service plans are in place for a temporary 
appointment of a part-time Letterbox Co-ordinator.

Current letterbox figures for the four local authorities stand at:
RCT 328
Merthyr 92
Vale 97
Cardiff 188
TOTAL 705

Page 25



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

24

Taking into consideration those files which have not had any active correspondence 
for over 2 years it is estimated that 482 of the 705 contacts are ’active’. However 
those cases where there has not been contact for over 2 years remain open as new 
correspondence can be received. 

Service User engagement

VVC has not run any specific service user engagement events since being 
established however it supported the event organised by the National Service in our 
area in March 2015. This provided opportunity for families to give feedback regarding 
the type of support that they are seeking, the findings of which have now been 
received within the region and will be utilised to inform future planning. These 
findings will be presented to the Management Board. Adoptive parents from the 
region also participated in an event facilitated by NAS in November 2015 looking at 
recruitment practice across the regions with the aim of introducing a two staged 
approach. The launch of the collaborative at our Christmas Fun Day in 2015 also 
enabled some feedback from adoptive families in the region and was attended by 
members of the Management Board and the Director of Operations for NAS.

The Collaborative has sought to build upon the existing support groups that were run 
by one authority prior to the merger (Rhondda Cynon Taff) and to extend these out 
to the other local authorities. 

Monthly toddler groups have been run since the outset of the Collaborative aimed at 
adopters with pre-school children which in the majority of cases have been accessed 
by families with children recently placed as a form of support during the early stages 
of placement. This is run on a rota basis by Social Workers across the service. 

Two family fun days are held per year,  one in the summer and one at Christmas and 
both were successful events in 2015 with over 80 children in attendance.

In addition to these ongoing events, quarterly support groups for adoptive parents 
have been run from the  autumn of  2015 .The first of these took place with the 
theme of ‘Non Violent Resistance’; the second of these focussed upon Letterbox and 
direct contact arrangements. Further events are planned for this next year. 

A newsletter for adoptive families was launched in 2016 with the intention that this 
will be produced 3 times a year.

New children’s guides and letterbox contact guides have been prepared and are due 
to be launched at the 2016 summer fun day.

Short- Medium Term improvement plans

There are temporary plans for a Letterbox Co-ordinator, a Social Worker for Access 
to Birth Records and to increase the Adoption Support Manager post to full time for a 

Page 26



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

25

time limited period to enhance the service. These measures will then be reviewed to 
assess the effectiveness of this temporary intervention in addressing the current 
pressures facing the adoption support team.

The support group programme for the year is to be established with dates and 
themes for these to be clearly set out for families in advance. In addition to this the 
service is also exploring a range of suitable venues for support groups and family 
events across the region to ensure that this is accessible to all.

Currently Adoption Allowances are being managed by the four local authorities who 
retain the budget for these Allowances. However it has been proposed that the 
administration of these Allowances should transfer to the Collaborative. A review of 
current arrangements is required to assess the practical and resource implications of 
this proposal. 

Some steps have already been taken to improve the communication around the 
placement of children outside of the regions and the role of the Adoption Support 
Services Adviser. This needs further development to ensure that the process is 
consistent. 

The training for staff which has been agreed needs to be progressed. Some 
arrangements are already in place to take this forward in the coming year. A training 
programme for adoption families on Non Violent Resistance (NVR) is also planned 
commissioned via Adoption UK..

Training for staff and local authority social workers in life story work to be arranged.

Within ongoing development of the VVC website there needs to be clear information 
and guidance for families as to how to access services and the type of support 
available.

Longer term aims for improvement

Long-term aims for the service are to explore a more multi-agency approach 
involving greater links with Psychology, Health and Education services. The 
opportunity of providing a consultation service with a number of different 
professionals as a form of signposting and early intervention has been suggested 
and needs further exploration.

Consideration of specific service level commissioning for therapeutic providers.

Other support groups and events need to be developed including birth parent 
support groups and events aimed at children of primary school age and their  
parents.

We have experienced a small number of disruptions within the first year of the 
collaborative and the majority of these cases would appear to be in the very early 
stages of placement. This has certainly informed decision making around matching 

Page 27



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

26

and introductions, assisted us in improving guidance and support to families during 
the introductions process and early stages of placement as well as being integral in 
assessments of adopters. From the ‘Beyond the Adoption Order’ research we are 
aware of a number of factors connected to adoption disruption post-adoption order, 
one of which is child to parent violence. The theme of one of our support group 
meetings was on ‘non-violent resistance’ which we commissioned and we have also 
accessed a workshop for staff on this through Adoption UK. We are currently due to 
pilot an NVR course for families which we are commissioning through Adoption UK. 

13. Policies and Procedures

The development of policies and procedures within VVC has focused upon day to 
day operational processes to ensure that service delivery is maintained. The 
Collaborative has established a clear process for co-ordinating the adoption referral 
and decision making process for children across the region and this has been 
cascaded to all Heads of Service and local Childcare Teams.

Managers within the region contributed to the development of a  national Family 
Finding guide and a localised process is being developed. 

The Recruitment & Assessment Team have revised the format for Information 
Evenings and the recruitment process is being realigned to the development of a 
more targeted approach.

An Adoption Support Policy covering the provision of adoption support services has 
been developed and an agreed process to access funding from the respective local 
authority in respect of support packages and Adoption Allowances has been agreed.

There is a draft best practice guide for the Adoption Panel in place which needs to 
be finalised alongside procedural guidance to support the work of the Panel.

There are other policies and procedures to develop to support the work of the 
Collaborative but time constraints and operational pressures have delayed their 
completion. This area needs to be given some priority in the coming year given the 
need to comply with Welsh language translation requirements.

14. CSSIW

The agencies within the Collaborative were last inspected during 2012-13. The Head 
of Service for the Vale of Glamorgan, RAM  and the Family Finding Manager 
attended a day facilitated by CSSIW looking at the revised methodology for the 
inspection of adoption services in November 2015. The CSSIW Self Evaluation 
based upon this revised methodology was completed and returned to CSSIW by the 
1 March 2016.The schedule of new inspections was to begin in April 2016 but no 
date has yet been received for inspection of the Collaborative.

Page 28



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

27

15. Local Monitoring and Governance

The host authority for VVC is the Vale of Glamorgan. Governance and reporting 
arrangements are set out in the Legal Agreement underpinning the Collaborative 
which was signed on 1 June 2015. The regional Management Board (MB) meets bi-
monthly and is chaired by the Director of Social Services for the Vale of Glamorgan. 
The vice chair is the Director for Merthyr Tydfil CBC. The chair of the MB will rotate 
each year amongst the local authority Directors within the Collaborative.

The membership of the MB comprises of the Heads of Service from the four 
authorities which make up the Collaborative with membership from Health, 
Education and a VAA.

Agendas for the meetings are set in advance. Standing items include performance 
reporting, budget monitoring, service user engagement and communicating with 
stakeholders. The Health, Education & VAA representatives bring relevant issues 
and interest from their particular sectors.

The overall governance of the Collaborative is by way of a Joint Committee (JC) 
comprised of lead elected members from the four authorities and the Heads of 
Service. The JC meets twice a year and is responsible for approving the annual plan 
for the Collaborative and budget. The Regional Manager reports to both MB and JC. 

The service fully complies with the reporting requirements set by NAS in terms of 
performance reporting. A mid-year report was prepared for NAS and an annual 
report will also be prepared by the end of April 2016. Performance is reported on a 
quarterly basis to the MB and six monthly to the JC. This annual report will be 
presented to the MB & the JC. 

16. Consultation

Service user views are gathered as part of the casework process and are key 
elements in adopter assessments and Panels. As outlined earlier a questionnaire 
was developed for applicants attending Panel and the results of this feedback was 
used  to improve consistency in Panel functioning.

Adoptive families within the region have participated in national consultation 
exercises including a NAS group to look at the recruitment and assessment process 
and a general consultation event held in March 2016. 

A meeting was held in January 2016 for all adoptive families waiting for placements 
and members of the team. This provided an opportunity to engage, explain the 
current context of family finding and to gather their views.

Page 29



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

28

Adoptive families have been involved with the planning and assisted with the running 
of activities during family fun days.

It has however acknowledged by all aspects of the service that more user feedback 
is required to inform service development and that customer surveys need to be 
more routinely embedded in practice within the Collaborative. This is an area for 
future development.

17. Compliments, comments, complaints and representations

Complaints against the Collaborative are managed via the Vale of Glamorgan’s 
Complaints process.

Since June 2015, VVC has received four complaints which have been resolved 
at stage 1. The details are as follows:

1. Complaint from AM on behalf of adopters concerning delays at Adoption 
Panel.

2. Complaint from MP concerning the provision of an Adoption Allowance and 
settling grant. This was responded to on behalf of the respective local 
authority.

3. Complaint from London authority regarding the provision of an inter-agency 
agreement.

4. Complaint from adopters concerning post adoption contact.

In addition the Collaborative has provided contributions to six complaints received by 
individual local authorities within the region and three representations made to Welsh 
Government from individual adopters.  The latter have been passed to NAS and so 
regional reports have been supplied to NAS to assist with their responses to the 
complaints.

There is currently no overall system within the Collaborative for recording 
compliments except from  positive feedback and comments received on an individual 
basis by members of the team. A log of all compliments received will now be 
maintained and forwarded to the central Complaints Unit.

There have been no representations against Adoption Panel decisions.

18. Future Priorities
 
The regional service going forward needs to consolidate and build upon the progress 
made in the first year of operation, to continue to identify gaps in provision and areas 

Page 30



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

29

for development of the service in order to respond effectively to the range of needs 
being presented.

Specific improvements and priorities for 2016-17 can best be summarised as follows:

1. To review the feasibility of implementing a more specialised, functional model 
of service delivery.

2. To improve efficiency and reduce administrative costs of the Adoption Panel 
by implementing a paperless Panel system.

3. To develop VVC’s website and to improve the range of information available 
for users of our service.

4. To develop the family finding process within the region  to improve practice in 
relation to the timely placement of children .

5. To target the recruitment and assessment of adoptive families to better meet 
the needs of children awaiting placements within the region and reduce 
reliance upon external sources of placement.

6. To develop the plan to enhance the Adoption Support service in the short 
term and evaluate its’ effectiveness to inform future planning of the service

7. To further develop processes, procedures and guidance to support the work 
of the Collaborative ensuring compliance with  Welsh language requirements.

8. To develop opportunities for engaging and obtaining  feedback from service 
users. 

19. Conclusion

The overall vision of the Collaborative is to provide a comprehensive, high quality 
adoption service to all those requiring such a service within the regional area. 
Through collaborative working, pooling resources and joint effort it is hoped that the 
region will continue to be able to deliver improved outcomes for children and young 
people receiving adoption services.

VVC was the last of the regions within NAS to be established. The implementation of 
the Collaborative in June 2015 was the culmination of much planning and inter-
agency working on behalf of the four partner authorities. The relatively smooth 
transfer of services and staff to the employment of the Vale of Glamorgan Council 
was mainly achieved as a result of the level of co-operation which existed and which 
has continued to be evident through the work of the Management Board and Joint 
Committee.

Page 31



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

30

At the end of the reporting period there is emerging evidence to demonstrate that  
collaborative working is beginning to enable a unified, consistent approach to service 
delivery  and easier identification of need and gaps in provision. Overall the region 
has performed  well in certain key areas and as the report hopefully demonstrates 
that the Collaborative has managed a large volume of work and demand for services 
during its first year. Positive outcomes can already be seen in the timely placement 
of children, the recruitment of adopters and an improved service to birth parents.

Whilst much has been achieved , the  challenges faced in continuing to develop the 
service whilst trying to meet increasing demands, particulary in Adoption Support  
cannot be under estimated. The large agenda for change and improvement in 
adoption set by the development of the National Adoption Service whilst positive is 
resulting in increased awareness and expectation at a local level. The service will 
therefore need to be able to develop mechanisms and resources to ensure that it is 
able to respond effectively to the improvements required and to ensure better 
outcomes for all those requiring a service. 

Appendices

The current membership of the Joint Adoption Panel is appended to the report.

Report compiled by: 

Angela Harris, Regional Adoption Manager
Bethan James, Family Finding Manager
Elizabeth Dickinson, Adoption Support Manager
Mary- Lou Rixon, Recruitment & Assessment Manager.

July 2016.

Page 32



Vale, Valleys & Cardiff Adoption Collaborative 

31

Appendix: Regional Panel Members and Advisers.

Name Panel Role
Members

Artie Meakin Independent Chair
Mark Roszkowski Independent Chair
Charles Twining Independent Member / Vice Chair

Kay Owen Independent Member / Vice Chair
Margaret Dickson Vice Chair
Rachel Whiston Independent Member

Tracey Payne Independent Member
Erica Beddoe Independent Member

Fiona Robinson Independent Member
Joanne Weston Independent Member

David Issac Local Councillor
Howard Hamilton Local Councillor

Sue Lent Local Councillor
Sharon Rees Local Councillor

Rhian Graham Local Councillor
Elaine Williams Social Worker
Claire Canham Social Worker
Louise Davies Social Worker

Lorraine Thomas Social Worker
Hilary Coombes Social Worker

Carol Ann Roberts Social Worker
Martyn Blackmore Social Worker

Amy Goddard Social Worker
Rebecca Wells Social Worker

Advisers – Formal
Angela Harris Panel Adviser
Bethan James Panel Adviser

Mary-Lou Rixon Panel Adviser
Liz Dickinson Panel Adviser

Administrator
Melanie Beere Panel Coordinator

Lisa Gibbs Panel Coordinator
Panel Advisers – Specific

Carolyn Sampeys Medical Adviser
Bethan Williams Medical Adviser

Zed Sibanda Medical Adviser
Niema Awadalla Medical Adviser
Marilyn Skyrme Medical Adviser

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Annual Report on Adult Safeguarding Processes

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide Scrutiny with the annual activity in respect of Adult Safeguarding Work 
2015-16 and the changes that are being implemented as a result of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act (SSWB) 2014 (Part 7 Safeguarding).  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The annual activity and new reporting arrangements in respect of Adults at Risk be 
noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The Safeguarding Unit has responsibility for the effective management of Adult 
Protection Concerns.  This is supported by two Safeguarding Co-ordinators and the 
Principal Manager for Safeguarding Children and Adults, who has overall 
responsibility for the unit and its effective running.  The two Safeguarding Co-
ordinators are located within the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) which 
ensures effective multi agency working to safeguard Children and Adults. 

3.2 The unit is supported by effective relationships between the local authority 
assessment and care management teams, local authority contracting team and 
senior management within the organisation.  This is imperative to ensure that adults 
are protected from abuse and neglect.

Date Written 8th November 2016
Report Author Alexandra Beckham 
Service Area Social Services 
Committee Date 6th December 2016

Page 35

Agenda Item 4



4.0 ANNUAL ACTIVITY 

4.1 In 2015-16 the unit received 218 enquiries in relation to adult protection concerns 
these are broken down as follows:

Adult Protection Concerns 99 
Safeguarding Unit Concern 3 
Vulnerable Adult Referrals 116

4.2 Of the Vulnerable Adult referrals 49 progressed through the formal adult protection 
process, 54 were closed as not meeting the threshold for adult protection with 
appropriate assessments being actioned to ensure safeguards were implemented. 

4.3 When considering the above information it is noted that there has been a 14% 
decrease in referrals from the previous year.  This will continue to be monitored this 
financial year in line with the changes in respect of the implementation of the act and 
the new duty to report safeguarding concerns.

4.4 The Independent sector remained the main source of Vulnerable Adult Referrals this 
is consistent with previous years and patterns within Wales.  57 adult protection 
concerns were in relation to care homes providing nursing care or residential care; 
this again is consistent with previous years. 

4.5 78% of Adult Protection concerns were investigated resulting in safeguards being 
implemented to ensure the ongoing protection and appropriate support of Vulnerable 
Adults.  

 
4.6 47% of adults reported that they felt safer as a result of the safeguarding 

intervention, however it is to be noted that further work needs to be completed in 
relation to engaging with adults following the adult protection process in order to 
ensure information is qualitative.  This will be addressed through the Adult Quality 
Assurance Sub Group of the safeguarding board.  

4.7 The Safeguarding Unit Strive to provide a quality service to Vulnerable Adults in 
conjunction with agency partners, as a result in 95% of the cases the level of risk 
was either removed or reduced. 

5.0 SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELL BEING (WALES) ACT 2014 

5.1 The implementation of the above act has brought about significant changes in 
relation to the legislation in respect of responding to Adult’s who are at risk of abuse.  
The Act itself has brought new definitions and moves away from the term 
“Vulnerable Adults” to Adults At Risk with the new definition as follows:

“An adult who is experiencing or is at risk of abuse and neglect and has needs 
for care and support and as a result of those needs is unable to protect 
himself or herself against the abuse or neglect or the risk of it.” 

Page 36



5.2 The Act introduces the new Duty to report Adult Safeguarding Concerns for all 
relevant partners and a new legal framework to undertake enquiries in relation to 
Adult At Risk concerns, these are referred to as Section 126 enquiries. 

5.3 As a result of the above the unit has implemented significant changes in the way in 
which we respond to safeguarding concerns ensuring that all reports are recorded 
and Section 126 enquiries are undertaken in accordance with the above legislation. 

5.4 This has not been without its challenges as we are still waiting on guidance from the 
Welsh Assembly in relation to “handling individual cases” which will inform the review 
of the All Wales Adult Protection Policies and Procedures. 

5.5 With the above implementation of the SSWB Act 2014 the reporting framework has 
changed which has meant that the Safeguarding Unit has undergone significant 
changes in the recording of Adult At Risk reports.

 
5.6 It is proposed that an interim report is provided to scrutiny on progress at the end of 

quarter 3 which would have enabled the principal manager to monitor impact of the 
Act.  

6.0 WHERE WE WERE

6.1 The adult protection agenda has increased significantly within the local authority, the   
development of the MASH has ensured that multi agency working is at the forefront 
of adult safeguarding. Coupled with the publishing of the review of “in Search Of 
Accountability” the review into Operation Jasmine has meant that the awareness of 
Adult Protection is paramount within all service provision. 

6.2 Previously Adult Protection issues were dealt with in assessment and care 
management teams this often came with its own challenges.  At present we have 
two safeguarding co-ordinators dealing solely with the concerns to ensure an 
independent view.  However there is further work to be done in respect of 
preventative work in line with the Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 2014.      

7.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

7.1 Part 7 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 has changed the 
language and definition of Adult protection, previously referred to as Protection of 
Vulnerable Adults the language has changed to “Adults At Risk” with the definition 
being changed.  The new Duty to report Adults at Risk has meant an increase in the 
contacts received to the local authority and the new Duty to enquire has placed 
statutory timeframes on local authorities.

 
7.2 The Safeguarding Unit has worked hard to ensure that we are capturing all reports 

and the outcomes and our data collection has changed.  However as Handling 
Individual Cases has not been published “The Interim All Wales Policies and 
Procedures” are still being worked within, however these are outdated.  Even with 
this difficulty the Unit still ensures that Adults At Risk are protected and through Multi 
Agency work this is being achieved. 

Page 37



8.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE

8.1 Handling Individual Cases is due for consultation in December 2016 following this 
consultation period we will ensure that the changes that we have made follow 
guidance and take action where they are not. 

8.2 The Act states that we need to develop a Safeguarding Care and Support Plan this 
will be done in conjunction with Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and consideration will 
be given to a Cwm Taf Care and Support Plan which will capture Safeguarding 
Action.

8.3 The development of the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Adults Board has ensured that the 
work plans in place capture all work required and we are pivotal in driving these 
changes forward  

9.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

9.1 At present we are waiting on the consultation of Handling Individual Cases however 
whilst this is being undertaken we are ensuring that we are working within the remit 
of the Social Services And Well Being (Wales) Act 2014 and continue to develop and 
ensure that Adults At Risk are protected from neglect and abuse.
 

9.2 The safeguarding Unit will monitor the impact of the changes within the Act and 
provide an interim report to scrutiny. 

10.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

10.1 Adults are safe and protected from neglect and abuse.

10.2 Social Services practice is compliant with the Social Services and Well-Being 
(Wales) Act.

10.3  Improve Performance.

10.4  Improve partnership working.

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR

SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 38



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Children Looked After Prevention Strategy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report provides an update in relation to the progress achieved with the MTCBC 
Child Looked After Prevention Strategy and the associated risks, issues and 
challenges. 

1.2 The strategy’s objective is to safely reduce the number of Children who need to be 
looked after.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The report be received and questions and challenges that will support effective 
delivery and improvement in this area of work be raised. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 From previous reports to scrutiny, Cabinet will be aware that the Children Looked 
After (CLA) Prevention Strategy is being implemented in order to safely reduce the 
number of children becoming looked after.

3.2 Scrutiny Committee last received a report in September.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE

4.1 The CLA Population has shown a steady decrease from a population of 193 children 
in 2011/12 to a current population of 142.  Whilst this is evidence of success there is 
no opportunity for complacency and ongoing work is required to continuously and 
safely reduce the population.  Children’s Services have reported budget efficiencies 

Date Written 14th November 2016
Report Author Sarah Skuse 
Service Area Children’s Services
Committee Date 6th December 2016

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



in relation to this area of activity.  However further targeted intervention is required to 
ensure that these efficiencies continue to be made.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW

5.1 The last report to scrutiny reported a significant increase in the CLA population by 9 
and advised that this was an exception arising from the accommodation of 2 large 
sibling groups.  There was a further rise by 1 at the end of the quarter bringing the 
total of children looked after to 141.  This rise was as a result of 4 admissions 
following safeguarding concerns and 3 children who ceased being looked after.  Of 
those children who ceased being looked after one was 18 years old, a second was 
made subject to an SGO to a family member and the third was adopted.

5.2 Whilst this shows a further increase at the end of quarter two there are a number of 
Children who are anticipated to cease being Looked After, these include: 5 young 
people turning 18 years before the end of March 2017; Children being placed for 
adoption and planned discharges of Care Orders as a result of children being 
returned to the care of parents or other family members. 

5.3 Readers may be aware that the Local authority will be accepting Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) as part of the Government resettlement scheme.  
Any young people accepted through this process will become looked after and 
careful planning is being undertaken with partner agencies including Rhondda Cynon 
Taff Social Services, Health, Education and Police to ensure the needs of this 
particularly vulnerable group are appropriately met.    

5.4 The complexity of the needs of a small but significant group of our children looked 
after continues to pose challenges to care planning and can result in increased 
placement costs.  Such complexities include being out of education, challenging 
behaviour as a result of experiencing trauma, loss and/or attachment difficulties and 
issues relating to mental health/wellbeing.  Meeting the needs of a child with these 
complex needs places pressure on carers and can lead to placement breakdown.  
Following placement breakdown and due to limited placements available for the 
older age group of 11-18 years there is increased risk that these young people are 
placed with independent providers at increased cost. 

Page 40



5.5 During quarter two there has been a further placement of 1 young person who was 
previously placed in supported accommodation being moved to a secure placement.  
This was as a result of the level of risk that this young person was placing 
themselves in, being such that their placement within the community could not be 
sustained.  This brings the total number of children placed in secure currently to 2.  
Due to the pressure on suitable placements able to meet the needs of these 2 young 
people, finding suitable placements is posing challenging and we are working closely 
with partners at the Children Commissioning Consortium Cymru (4Cs) to explore 
options.  A presenting need for both of these young people is about their emotional 
and mental wellbeing.  In light of this Children Services are also meeting with and 
challenging partners in Health, particularly the CAHMS service about how we meet 
the current needs of these 2 young people but further how we work with children and 
young people earlier to reduce the risk of self-harming behaviour.  

5.6 There is work continuing to monitor all those children at risk of becoming looked after 
and there are a number of children for whom the risk has been reduced through care 
and support plans with input from partner agencies. 

5.7 The Success, Stability and Transition Panel and the Intensive Family Support Panel 
will meet for the first time next month and at the end of the year.  It is anticipated the 
work of these panels will provide further evidence of how joint working is safely 
reducing the population of children looked after and for those children that need to 
be looked after that they have the chance of stability and success.  

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 There continues to be a target to reduce the population of children looked after year 
on year through a safe reduction in those children becoming looked after and a focus 
where it is appropriate for children to be rehabilitated to the care of their parents or 
within family arrangements.  We have the target of reducing the population to 100 
within 3 years.

6.2 Furthermore we have to focus on the outcomes for our children and ensure that they 
establish permanence and are supported to successfully achieve independence.  

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 The recommendations from the review of our extended child in need team (ECIN) 
continue to be implemented.  Work is ongoing to ensure that the work of ECIN is 
targeted at families where there is the best chance of successfully reducing the risk 
of children becoming looked after.  The focus of this teams work will be working with 
Children and their parents within the child’s first 1000 days of life and with expectant 
parents where there is clear evidence that a preventative approach is effective in 
reducing long term need.  There will also be a focus on working with parents who 
have previously had a child removed and assisting them to make and sustain 
changes that will assist them to be able to parent a subsequent child and working 
with Care leavers who may require preventative work to ensure that they have the 
opportunity to parent.  

Page 41



7.2 In the final quarter of this year the first full quarter reports will be available from the 
Success, Stability and Transition panel and the Intensive Family Support Panel.  
These reports will allow the effectiveness of Care and Support Plans in reducing the 
number of children and young people looked after to be monitored and analysis of 
this data will assist with the development of future service delivery. 

7.3 A draft of Strategy for Success that aims to improve the educational attainment of 
children looked after has been agreed between the Heads of Service for Children’s 
Services and that of Education.  Implementation of this plan is ongoing and being led 
by Children Services through the “LACES” team with valuable assistance from 
Education.  

7.4 Work is ongoing in collaboration with the Children’s Commissioning Consortium 
Cymru (4C’s) to improve Merthyr Tydfil’s place within the independent placement 
market place.

7.5 The support worker in the fostering team whose role has a focus on recruitment of 
foster carers is in post and will commence work on coordinating the marketing 
activity of the fostering team with the intention of increasing the recruitment of in-
house foster carers in December 2016.  Her first task will be ensuring that we have 
adequate monitoring tools in place to efficiently follow-up enquiries and to work with 
Corporate Communications to ensure that we have a robust marketing campaign.  

7.6 A range of measures are being established through outcome focused practice 
training, updated procedures, process and panels to build on permanence practice.  
This includes work that is being undertaken on reviewing our procedures for children 
returning home to parent care.  This will ensure that due consideration is given to the 
prospect of rehabilitation at home and that this is considered as a positive outcome 
for some older looked after children who inevitably return home at 18 years of age. 

7.7 We are measuring performance and budget impact also.  We meet bi-monthly to 
review those cases of children for whom exiting the looked after process is a goal.  A 
recent increase in demand for residential placements has led to Budget Board 
requesting a report.

7.8 Work is being undertaken with the Children and Family Team and the Children 
Looked after team to consider the point of transfer of cases from the former to the 
later and also to look at the remit of the Children Looked after team in working with 
those children for whom rehabilitation at home can be considered but where a further 
period of care and support through a multi-agency approach is required.  This 
change will provide increased support to those Special Guardians who care for 
children to whom they are connected/related but who have complex needs as a 
result of their experiences of abuse or neglect.  

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The content of this report has strategic congruence with the Children’s Services 
Strategy in the following ways:

 Desired Outcome 1: Year on year more children live at home with their family or 
friends;

Page 42



 Desired Outcome 3: There is a reducing number of children who need to become 
looked after;

 Desired Outcome 6: All young people we work with have timely assessments 
and outcome focussed care and support plans;

 Aim 2: Improve Performance;
 Aim 5: Promote Early Intervention and Prevention;
 Cwm Taf Looked After Child Prevention Strategy Outcomes; 

1. More children and young people are supported to live with their families 
safely.

2. More Parents and carers are supported to help their children live with their 
families safely.

3. The Well-being and opportunities of looked after children and young people 
are improved.

4. People who need our support experience a seamless service that will help 
them achieve the things that matter to their wellbeing.

LISA CURTIS-JONES, 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS 
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location
Cabinet Report LAC 
prevention Strategy

April 2015 Unit 5

Scrutiny Report LAC 
prevention Strategy

September 2015 Unit 5

Cabinet – LAC 
prevention Strategy

October 2015 Unit 5

Cabinet Report – 
Corporate Parenting 

Board

January 2016 Unit 5

Scrutiny Report March 2016 Unit 5

Scrutiny Report CLA 
Strategy

September 2016 Unit 5

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Caseloads – Children’s Services 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 This report has been prepared in response to Scrutiny Committee’s request for 
additional information.  Caseloads in children’s services are high, some measures 
are in place to manage this but further work is required.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The report be received and questions and challenge leading to improvement be 
raised.

2.2 Children’s Services carry out the work as highlighted in 7.1.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In the course of Scrutiny Committee’s work in other areas, Committee Members 
have previously asked questions about caseload size.  The response has indicated 
that demand for the service remains high and this has an impact for caseload size 
which is also high.

3.2 There is no definitive standard for identifying appropriate caseload size.  Often 
caseload size is determined by professional judgement, the manager having 
balanced the likely demands of the case with the capacity of the practitioner and the 
overall demands on the team.  The demands of any case vary enormously and there 
is at any one time a number of factors influencing appropriate caseload size 
including:

Date Written November 2016
Report Author Annabel Lloyd
Service Area Children’s Services
Committee Date 6th December 2016

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



 The demands and complexity of the case;
 The skills and experience of the practitioner;
 Other factors including the employee’s circumstances and capacity of the team to 

support the practitioner with the tasks involved in the case.

3.3 Caseload size should therefore be monitored, there being self-evident challenges 
and risks in relation to the safety and quality of practice and staff well-being where 
caseloads are unmanageable.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 In December 2012 the Council commissioned IPC to undertake a review of caseload 
numbers and workload arrangements for Children Services.

4.2 One of the recommendations of this review was to reducing inefficiencies in existing 
systems by developing a workload management tool.  It was suggested that this tool 
should be used to:

 Review how time management;
 Plan work better;
 Ensure manageable workloads;
 Gain a greater understanding of the time certain tasks take and use knowledge to 

streamline processes;
 Collate information about workloads and use the knowledge to reallocate or bid 

for additional resources.

4.3 In September 2014, a final tool was agreed with staff.  This is based on a scoring 
system to identify an overall ‘level’ (1-4) for each case.  It is possible for the score to 
be entered on to Integrated Children’s System to enable managers to view reports 
on caseload activity.  The advantages of using a workload management tool 
included:

 The completion of the template enables at-a-glance review of allocated work.
 For the worker, the approach enables discussions where case work is taking 

longer than originally estimated;
 For the manager and the department this approach helped build a broader 

analysis of capacity and service demand to inform workforce planning;
 It enables us to look beyond caseload data reflecting the numbers of cases per 

worker and not the capability or capacity needed to do the required work;
 It provides the Head of Service and Director with information on current demand 

and workloads to balance resources;
 Although there was anecdotal evidence of considerable pressure on teams that 

needs to be taken very seriously, at the time there was no available data to 
quantify that pressure apart from the caseload data. 

Page 46



5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 There is now good management information available at the click of a mouse about 
caseload size.  The workload management tool was not universally supported and 
has not been consistently adopted.  One manager has cited the additional time taken 
to apply the model as a reason for not finding it helpful.

5.2 Caseload size is currently monitored in the following ways:

 By managers in individual practitioner supervision which takes place monthly – 
6 weekly or more frequently depending on the need.

 Via a management information report at our monthly Extended Children’s 
Services Meeting. We focus on exception reporting that looks at plans for 
reducing caseload size that is either in excess of 28 per Full Time Equivalent 
Social Worker or below  20.

5.3 The demands on the service are significant with examples of staff working in excess 
of contracted hours, and we are yet to see reduced demand related to increasing 
impact of preventative work.  There is an increasing complexity to our work 
alongside an increasing focus on quality, and our outcome focused work is 
demanding in terms of time spent with families.  Teams are also working to ensure 
that any work is in accordance with the SS&W-B Act. We are using a new 
assessment and care and support plans, and embedding the national eligibility 
criteria, including scoring.  We have noticed that staff are taking longer to write up 
assessments as they continue to develop their skills in compliance with the Act.

5.4 When there is absence due to leave, sickness or parental leave, teams are 
vulnerable and additional resources are required.  We have achieved this by 
deploying staff from other parts of the service at points of pressure and in extremis 
using agency staff.

5.5 At the time of writing, the caseload management report showed that 11 practitioners 
from 2 teams had a caseload in excess of 28.  As a result of regular monitoring we 
are able to report that where caseload size is in excess of 28, it is invariably in two 
parts of the service; the Intake team and Family Support Team .Where caseload size 
is high, it is often associated with cases awaiting closure. Therefore high caseload 
size can be a reflection of a combination of inactive cases waiting for closure and the 
practitioner’s active caseload giving a false impression of the caseload size.  
Addressing this is the focus our recommendations in section 7 below.

5.6 Staff who feel their caseload is too high can and should approach managers for 
discussion about prioritisation and sharing concern about risk.  There may be 
opportunities for support from colleagues or professionals from partner 
organisations.  Managing competing demands is a challenge faced by all 
professionals and is particularly present in social work with children.

Page 47



6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 As a service we would like to reduce the number of staff whose caseload 
exceeds 28.  We would like all staff to have manageable caseloads.  Given that we 
do not have access to additional resources, this will not be achievable until we are 
able to: 

 Reduce demand on the service as a result increasing the impact of preventative 
services;

 Ensure that we have staffing resources allocated to the relevant part of the 
service;

 Ensure that the work involved in case closure and step down is achieved in a 
more timely fashion allowing staff to move on to new challenges. By addressing 
this we will be confident that the caseload size report shows a measure of active 
cases only, rather than those cases that are waiting to be closed and those that 
are active;

 Enhance our response to support practitioners with high caseloads, making sure 
that practice is safe and risk is shared.

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Further work will assist us in working towards achieving our goal of achieving 
manageable caseloads.  A task and finish group of staff and managers should be 
established to make recommendations about:

 The future role of the caseload weighting system;
 Changes to the case closure and step down process to ensure that it is SMART 

and avoids the delay that we are currently reporting;
 Measures that can support staff in safe management of high caseloads making 

sure that practice is safe and risk is shared.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The content of this report has strategic congruence with the Children’s Services 
Strategy in the following way:

Desired Outcome 6: All young people we work with have timely assessment and 
outcome focussed care and support plans.

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

Page 48



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 

and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?

Date Written 24th November 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 6th December 2016

Page 51

Agenda Item 10



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes?

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 52



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

3.3 Just so the scrutiny committees are aware the Council has seven key priorities as 
per the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment.

These seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of them. The 4 themes are:-

 Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning) 
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

 Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services)
Social Services Scrutiny Committee

 Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside)
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee

 Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection)
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 
have been developed each reflects the Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives.

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the Council’s 
corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny committees in 
this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page”

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 55



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 56



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 57



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 58



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2016)

Committee Social Services Scrutiny Committee
Date / Timing Overarching 

Item
Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member

 (Other) Scrutiny Focus 

Annual Report LCJ, AL, MA, 
LM

Social 
Services Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Council Reporting Framework. The Director of Social 

Services annual statutory report to Welsh Government

28th June 2016

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Performance Board Report – Improving Wellbeing.  A synopsis from the 
Performance Board.
*Appendix = Draft Service Performance Reports.  An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Plans 
16/17

Nicola Kingham 
and officers and 
elected member

Social 
services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  update on the safeguarding board plan. Looking at the areas  
we have covered and safeguarding priorities

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Improving Wellbeing). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Corporate 
safeguarding 

reference Group 
Update

Alex Beckham 
and portfolio 

member

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- Reference group set up a year ago and a report to review 
progress and plan drawn up from development sessions.

20th September 2016

Annual Report Alex Beckham Social Scrutiny & Challenge:- Information on data regards conferences and reviews  and 

P
age 59



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2016)

on LAC reviews 
and CP 

conferences

and portfolio 
member  

Services current registration status

Learning 
Disabilities 
inspection

MA/LCJ/Cllr 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  An update on inspection.

Child Sexual 
Exploitation 
(CSE) 
Safeguarding 
Action Plan 

Alex Beckham Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  An update in relation to the action plan set up as a result of 
the self-evaluation following the Rotherham report.

1st November 2016

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Reports 

15/16

Nicola Kingham 
and officers and 
elected member

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   These separate reports summarises the work undertaken by 
the CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives during 2015/16. They also 
summarise the areas of development identified for 2016/17

Regional 
Adoption 

Annual Report

AL/ Angela 
Harris & Rachel 
Evans (Vale of 

Glamorgan)

Adoption 
Services

Monitoring & Scrutiny: An update  and some early performance information  in 
relation to our regional adoption collaborative

Annual Report 
on adult 

safeguarding 
processes

Alex Beckham
and portfolio 

member

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Report providing update on adult protection referrals and 
details as required.

Looked After 
Children 
Strategy 
Implementation

AL & Port. 
Member/  Sarah 
Skuse 

Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the 
LAC strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking 
a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

6th December 2016
Caseload size in 
children’s 
services  

AL / Portfolio 
Member

Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: The committee has requested a report on the 
caseloads size for Children’s Services.

P
age 60



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2016)

Looked After 
Children 
Strategy 

Implementation

AL/ Cllr LM Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the 
LAC strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking 
a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

Dom care 
contract

MA/LCJ/Cllr 
Matthews

SS Scrutiny & Challenge:- update on first quarter of new dom care contract – looking at 
value for money and data. Where we were /where we going?

Budget update Stacey 
Evans/LCJ/Cllr 

Matthews

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Update on budget and looking at areas that may overspend. Look at grant funding 
areas. Eg ICF

Communities 
First – Where 

we were? 
Where we 

going?

Ryan 
Stokes/LMCJ

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- data from the three areas and updates CF moving forward.

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Improving Wellbeing). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

24th January 2017

Cwm Taff 
Integrated 
Family Support 
Team Annual 
report - 
April 2015 / 
March 2016

AL/  Goulding, 
Jay (RCT)

(see AL email 
14/11/16)

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

The provide provides an Annual Report on progress within the Cwm Taf IFST and the 
wider implementation.

7th March 2017
CSSIW report 
action plan 

update

AL/LCJ/MA SS Scrutiny & Challenge:-  At the May meeting CSSIW reported to committee on their 
report. An action plan was needed to address the recommendations in the report. 
This will be the second update, then every six months thereafter.

P
age 61



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2016)

Review of family 
support services

AL/LMCJ Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Where we were /where we going in future.  Started work august 2016 so this would 
be a review of where we are at. 

Performance EMcW/LCJ/Cllr L 
Matthews

Scrutiny & Challenge:-
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 2, 3 & 4 Reports.  An update on progress implementing 
the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Improving Wellbeing). An update on progress 
implementing the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for 
example activities from the Performance Board challenge.

Looked After 
Children 
Strategy 
Implementation

AL & Port. 
Member

Children 
Services

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the 
LAC strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking 
a reduction in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years

18th April 2017

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Plans 

17/18

Nicola Kingham Social 
services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 

SS&WB Jonathan Strong Social 
Serivces

SSWB – An update as to where the Authority is in relation to the implementation of 
the Act.

To be confirmed
Annual 

Performance 
Evaluation for 

2015-2016

CSSIW Social 
Services

Monitoring & Scrutiny: The CSSIW will be publishing the evaluation report on 30 
October 2016 and wish to present it to this scrutiny committee before 31 December 
2016 

P
age 62



Social Services Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version November 2016)

WCCIS Mark 
Anderton/LCJ/
Cllr Matthews

SS Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Updating scrutiny on new database and links to performance 
– how we will report in future.

YOS inspection
Was due 1st 
October 2016 
but the 
inspection was 
cancelled (email 
AL 27/09/2016)

AL/LCJ/Cllr 
Matthews

Social 
Services

Scrutiny & Challenge:- findings from inspection

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption Service Annual Report
	VALE, VALLEYS & CARDIFF ADOPTION SERVICE

	4 Annual Report on Adult Safeguarding Processes
	5 Children Looked After Prevention Strategy
	6 Case loads - Children's Services
	10 Scrutiny Work Programme 2016-17
	Strategies on a Page
	5 Social_Services_Descriptors


